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STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

Your affiant, , is a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (“FBI”) assigned to the Joint Terrorism Task Force. In my duties as a special agent, 
I have received training and gained experience in a variety of criminal laws and procedures. 
Currently, I am tasked with investigating criminal activity in and around the Capitol grounds on 
January 6, 2021. As a Special Agent, I am authorized by law or by a Government agency to engage 
in or supervise the prevention, detection, investigation, or prosecution of a violation of Federal 
criminal laws.  

 
The U.S. Capitol is secured 24 hours a day by U.S. Capitol Police. Restrictions around the 

U.S. Capitol include permanent and temporary security barriers and posts manned by U.S. Capitol 
Police. Only authorized people with appropriate identification were allowed access inside the U.S. 
Capitol. On January 6, 2021, the exterior plaza of the U.S. Capitol was also closed to members of 
the public. 

 
On January 6, 2021, a joint session of the United States Congress convened at the United 

States Capitol, which is located at First Street, SE, in Washington, D.C. During the joint session, 
elected members of the United States House of Representatives and the United States Senate were 
meeting in separate chambers of the United States Capitol to certify the vote count of the Electoral 
College of the 2020 Presidential Election, which had taken place on November 3, 2020. The joint 
session began at approximately 1:00 p.m. Shortly thereafter, by approximately 1:30 p.m., the 
House and Senate adjourned to separate chambers to resolve a particular objection.  Vice President 
Mike Pence was present and presiding, first in the joint session, and then in the Senate chamber.  

 
As the proceedings continued in both the House and the Senate, and with Vice President 

Mike Pence present and presiding over the Senate, a large crowd gathered outside the U.S. Capitol. 
As noted above, temporary and permanent barricades were in place around the exterior of the U.S. 
Capitol building, and U.S. Capitol Police were present and attempting to keep the crowd away 
from the Capitol building and the proceedings underway inside.   

 
At such time, the certification proceedings were still underway and the exterior doors and 

windows of the U.S. Capitol were locked or otherwise secured. Members of the U.S. Capitol Police 
attempted to maintain order and keep the crowd from entering the Capitol; however, around 2:00 
p.m., individuals in the crowd forced entry into the U.S. Capitol, including by breaking windows 
and by assaulting members of the U.S. Capitol Police, as others in the crowd encouraged and 
assisted those acts. 

 
Shortly thereafter, at approximately 2:20 p.m. members of the United States House of 

Representatives and United States Senate, including the President of the Senate, Vice President 
Mike Pence, were instructed to—and did—evacuate the chambers. Accordingly, the joint session 
of the United States Congress was effectively suspended until shortly after 8:00 p.m. Vice 
President Pence remained in the United States Capitol from the time he was evacuated from the 
Senate Chamber until the sessions resumed.  
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During national news coverage of the aforementioned events, video footage which 
appeared to be captured on mobile devices of persons present on the scene depicted evidence of 
violations of local and federal law, including scores of individuals inside the U.S. Capitol building 
without authority to be there. 

 
FACTS SPECIFIC TO THIS CASE 

 
On July 26, 2021, United States Magistrate Judge Robin M. Meriweather found that 

probable cause existed for the arrest of an individual named Luke Wessley Bender (“Bender”) 
based on a complaint and affidavit alleging the violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(2) (obstruction 
of justice/Congress); 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1) and (2) (entering and remaining in a restricted 
building or grounds and disorderly and disruptive conduct in a restricted building or grounds); 
and 40 U.S.C. §§ 5104(e)(2)(A), (D), and (G) (entering and remaining on the floor of Congress, 
disorderly conduct in a Capitol building, and parading, demonstrating, or picketing in a Capitol 
building). As described more fully in the affidavit supporting that complaint, Bender was 
identified as an individual who unlawfully breached the Senate floor on January 6, 2021.  

 
Among the documents supporting Bender’s arrest were photographs and videos from 

Bender’s TikTok account, including videos of the exterior of the Capitol on January 6, 2021 and 
a photo of Bender an another individual standing across the street from the Capitol prior to the 
breach of the Capitol. The other individual is a stocky white male with a beard who is wearing a 
red baseball cap with white lettering, has a camouflage outer jacket, and wearing what appear to 
be blue jeans.  
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A closeup of the image is below: 
 

 
 
Another source of information supporting probable cause for Bender’s arrest was a 

YouTube video submitted by a tipster. Within that video were images of Bender and the same 
individual, wearing the same clothing, taken at or near the same time. 
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Additionally, Bender provided MITCHELL’s phone number as XXX-XXX-0945 and 
confirmed MITCHELL’s contact information in his personal cell phone. 

According to an online database, the carrier for XXX-XXX-0945 is AT&T. Pursuant to 
legal process, AT&T provided subscriber information for the phone number showing that the 
account holder is LANDON MITCHELL and include a home address in Houston, Texas. Records 
obtained from the Texas Department of Motor Vehicles list MITCHELL’s address as the same 
location in Houston, Texas. 

Pursuant to an authorized search warrant, law enforcement obtained records from AT&T 
for cell towers providing service to the United States Capitol. The records show that the device 
associated with XXX-XXX-0945 utilized a cell site consistent with providing service to the 
geographic area that includes the interior of the United States Capitol building on and around the 
time of the attack on the Capitol on January 6, 2021. 

Pursuant to an authorized search warrant, law enforcement obtained records from Bender’s 
iCloud account. Among the images found within Bender’s iCloud account is what appears to be a 
clearer picture taken at or near the time of the photograph posted onto Bender’s TikTok account:  
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The account profile page included several posts that appear to reference the election results 

and/or the Capitol insurrection, some of which are included as screenshots below. 
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Also pursuant to that search warrant, law enforcement obtained messages, including 
attached photographs and videos, from MITCHELL’s Facebook account. Within those messages, 
MITCHELL stated on January 6, 2021 that he “breached the Capitol today,” that he was “one of 
the very first in,” “one of the first to Breach,” and “climbed the scaffolding up 3 stories, pushed 
back the police and breached the doors!!” When discussing his presence within the Capitol on 
January 6, MITCHELL stated that “people are fed up with how crooked the government has been 
and they pretty much been laughing at us thinking we wouldn’t do anything about it[.]” He 
continued, “we[’]re not happy. They learned that today.”  

On January 17, 2021, MITCHELL corresponded with an individual who expressed concern 
that MITCHELL might be arrested for unlawfully breaching the Capitol on January 6, 2021. 
MITCHELL assured the individual that he is “invincible” and “not too worried,” because he “was 
masked up the whole time.” The following conversation ensued: 
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 MITCHELL explained to another individual through Facebook on January 18, 2021: 
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Among the attachments to MITCHELL’s Facebook messages include photographs and 
videos of MITCHELL inside the Senate chamber. The following photos were attached to Facebook 
messages written by MITCHELL in January 2021. 
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The below screenshot shows MITCHELL entering the Senate chamber. 
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The below screenshot shows MITCHELL in the Senate chamber during a prayer recited 
by an individual later identified as Jacob Chansley. 

 

 
 

The below screenshot shows MITCHELL posing for a picture on the Senate dais, to the 
left of Jacob Chansley.  
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 The below screenshot shows MITCHELL after he stepped down from the Senate dais and 
before he was escorted off of the Senate floor. 
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